

James Bobit Will
August the 28th 1814

In the name of god amen I James Bobit of Smith County
State of Tennessee of sound and perfect ^{sound} memory be it so
do and publish this my Last Will and Testament in maner
following that is to say first I Give and bequeath my soul
to the Lord second I Give and bequeath unto my wife
Judith Bobit all and singular all my earthly property
during her life or widow hood after paying my Just
debts the ballance at her death she may dispose of
as she thinks proper whereof I the said James Bobit
have to this day my Last Will and Testament set
my hand and Seal this day and year above Written
Signed Sealed Published and declared by the said
James Bobit the Testament of his last Will and tes-
tament in the presence of us who were present at the
time of signing Sealing thereof

Jep^r Smith
James Tubbs

James Bobit

State of Tennessee

Smith Smith county } November Term 1814

Then the Last Will and Testament
of James Bobit was Exhibited in open Court and duly pro-
ven by the oath of Jep^r Smith Witness thereto and on mo-
tion ordered to be recorded and on motion of Judith
Bobit the Executor therein named she was qualified
and Entered into bond & security as the law directs.

Teste
Robert McClintock
Z &

Oliver Randolph will

South county Tennessee State

I Oliver Randolph the weak in body but in sound mind have a desire to bestow what property the Lord has been pleased to bless me with as follows viz I give and bequeath to my grand son Peter Green Randolph one cow and calf and also one feather bed furniture I also give and bequeath to my son Joel Randolph one negro woman named Judith to him and his heirs for ever but never to sell her nor separate her off in any way it is also my desire that said negro shall have time to go and see her children as often as is necessary this I ordain to my last will and Testament acknowledged in the presence of us witnesses this 24th day of July 1808

Robert Harper

Oliver Randolph
his mark

Anthony age
donation age

South county 3 November Term 1814

That the within last will and Testament of Oliver Randolph was exhibited in open court and the due execution thereof being proven by the oaths of Anthony age and donation age witnesses thereof and ordered to be recorded

Teste
Robert Allen clerk

The Chandler Deced		An inventory and acct of sales of the Estate of Thomas Chandler Deced to wit	
3 basins, 1 Dish, 1 tray, 1 spoon, 1 pencil	sold for	2	00
4 plates, 1 Dish, 1 cup, 1 tureen, 1 earthen	"	1	50
2, 1 trap, 1 candlestick, 1 other, 1 moken, 1 look	"	1	00
1 set knives & forks, 1 haller chain	"	1	50
1 Bill, 1 corn, 1 funnel, 1 1/2 stilyards	"	5	00
2 augers, 1 drawing knife, 1 gouge, 1 chisel, 1 file, 1 plan, 1 rod, 1 1/2 ft. wheel	"	4	50
1 gun, 1 barrel, 1 moulder, 1 sump	"	5	50
2 Tables, 2 pauls and a churn	"	1	50
2 short guns, 1 Grand stone	"	21	8 1/2
1 Tea kettle, 1 Briton, 1 plan and double line	"	1	62 1/2
1 1/2 ft. plan, 1 gun, 5 pots, 3 axes, 1 Bredder, 1 tub	"	0	75
2 horses, 2 mares, 1 1/2 mule, 1 colt	"	83	3 1/2
1 cow, 1 calf, 2 Raw hides, 5 chains	"	18	75
4 beds & furniture, 4 bedsteads	"	38	
1 looking glass, 1 chest, 2 trunks, 1 sugar box	"	7	
2 Volumes Herons Geography, 2 Volumes blackstone commentaries	"	311	50
1 set books, 1 Buchanan's medicine	"	8	50
1 smoothing iron, 1 coffee mill, 1 sickle	"	3	62 1/2
2 Cotton, 1 wheel, 1 iron pot, 2 Dutch ovens	"	5	81 1/2
1 Shovel, 1 pot hook, 1 Corp, 1 kettle	"	5	12 1/2
1 Empty barrel, 1 fish zig, 1 pot, 1 spurs	"	1	56 1/2
1 Robin & mens saddles, 1 woman's saddle	"	17	6 1/2
Total of sales		256	81 1/2

The above inventory was taken and sales made the 25th October 1814. Polly Chandler adm^r

South county 3 November Term 1814

That the within Inventory was exhibited in open court and ordered to be recorded

Teste
Robert Allen clerk

Peter Webster

Inventory of the Property of Peter Webster Deceased.

1814 Nov 15th Cash received for tour to the Indian country
under the command of Major Genl Jackson

\$180.00

Mary Webster adm^r

Smith County 3 November Term 1814

That the above inventory of the property
of Peter Webster was exhibited in open Court and ordered to
be recorded

Essex

Robert Allen clerk

Morgan Williams Dec^d

State of Tennessee

Smith County 3 May the 15th 1814

By Verdict of a commission to us de-
rected from the Worshipful the county court of Giles
and quarter Sessions for the county of Smith authorizing
and appointing us commissioners to settle with John
Baker and Selas M Williams Executors of Morgan
Williams Deceased and report thereon on big leave to
report that John Baker & Selas M Williams Ex^{rs} of Morgan
Williams Deceased from the vouchers & Documents her-
with submitted and by us inspected are duly indebted
to a credit for the sum of five hundred forty eight
dollars ten and one half cents in the administration of
said Estate given under our hands & seals this 15th day of May
1814

W Waller C

Chas Wooten C

State of Tennessee

Smith County 3 November Term 1814

That the within report of the commissioners
appointed to settle with the Executors of Morgan Williams De-
ceased was exhibited in open Court and ordered to be recorded

Agreeable to an order of the worshipful for the county of
Smith at August Term last ordering us to divide the
personal Estate of Richard Britton Deceased & divided as
follows

Ten negroes put in to eight lots slated for valuation

1 Sally Britton drew Grace Coarsellan	\$420
2 William Britton drew Jany	250
3 Stacey Britton drew Stacey Schts	475
4 Arney Britton drew Wan	460
5 Abram Britton drew Minter	375
6 John Britton drew Renna & Andy	295
7 Polly Britton drew Ann	460
8 Mrs Pursley drew Rhoda	275

\$3010

Each share out of this sum will be

\$376.25

first lot pay in \$43.75

2^d lot to receive " " \$126.25

3^d lot to pay in 98.75 " "

4th lot to pay in 93.75 " "

5th lot to receive " " 1.25

6th lot to receive " " 81.25

7th lot to pay in 93.75 " "

8th lot to receive 92.25 " "

Given this 29th day of October 1814

John Bravard

John Bradley

J. Hebls

John Stubblefield

commissioners

Smith County 3 Nov Term 1814

ordered that the commissioners each be allowed \$2 each for their
services out of the State. Wm Wooten C

That the within report was exhibited in open Court &
ordered to be recorded

a Copy Essex

Robert Allen clerk

Wm Banks
State of Tennessee
Smith County

Persuant to a summons to appear before the

Shruff of Smith County aforesaid in the livery being
Duly sworn to lay of a Downy to Karenhappock
Banks Widow to Richard Banks Deced of all the Real
Estate he died the said Richard Decd proposed of in the
County aforesaid to wit beginning at a beach and
 Hickory on the So bank of Cumberland river Running
So 60 poles to a Locust & beach thence west 80 poles to
a sugar tree thence So 6 poles to a beach thence west
48 poles to an Elm thence So 16 poles to a hickory
thence West 12 poles to the road thence So 10 poles to the
crop fence thence west 26 poles to a stake thence So 49
poles to a White oak thence West to the Banks line
and thence with said line to Cumberland river
containing one third part of all the land as near
as may be to which he the said Richard Banks
Decd proposed of given under our hands this 15th day
of Sept 1814

Attest
James B. Jeffers
David Hays
Judson Ruliman
Armistead Elmore
John Page
Thos Burnett
Joseph Bishop
Gray Gilliam
Wm Moore
Geo Shellen
Geo Bradley

State of Tennessee
Smith County

3rd Nov^r Term 1814

Then the within report of the commissioner
who set apart the downy of Karenhappock Banks was
exhibited in open Court and ordered to be recorded.

Sd

Albert Allen clerk

protate to Richard Banks, mls 7

February Term 1815

Then George White makes oath that
he is acquainted with the hand writing
of George Brasfield one of the subscribing
Witnesses to said Will from having seen
him write frequently writes that he be-
lieves the signature of Geo Brasfield a
subscribing Witness to said Will to be
the proper hand writing of said Geo
Brasfield who resides out of the State

a copy Geo Robert Allen
Clerk &c

In the name of God amen I Daniel Witches of Smith
County State of Tennessee being Sick and weak of body
but of sound mind and disposing memory for which
I thank God and calling to mind the uncertainty of
human life and being desirous to dispose of all such worldly
Substance as it hath pleased God to bless me to make my
last Will and Testament in manner and form following
That is First I commend my Soul to God that gave
it and my body to be buried in Decent Christian
burial for the Discretion of my Executors
Secondly I Give unto and bequeath unto Susanna
Witches my wife my beloved wife six negroes namely
Will, Phillis, Farnous, Dorcas, Richmond, Gloucester

of the stock of cattle sheep hogs & ~~and~~ one bay horse
and one hundred ^{fifty} acres of land to include plantation
where on I now live ~~one~~ including the house mill
and cotton machine the land to ~~include~~ be laid off by
Tandy R. Mitcher & Sary Mitcher which I have
appointed to turn the lines together with all the
house hold furniture and farming utensils for her use
during her life on widowhood also one bay mare ^{known} to me
by the name of Nave to be known properly during
her life (to do as she pleases with).

Thirdly; I Give & bequeath unto my son Danice
R. Mitcher the hundred & fifty acre track of land
above mentioned Together with all the improvements
above mentioned & one negro boy by the name of Jordan
one gray mare and a young grey horse and three
cows and calves and two yearlings all of which is to
become his property at the age of twenty one years
Together with all the increase of said stock Except the
land which is to be his at the Death or Expiration
of the widowhood of my beloved wife Susanna
Mitcher Fourthly I Give and bequeath unto six
of my Daughters (namely) Nancy young Martha
Good Tabitha young Sally Ramsay Sabra Jenkins
& Abby B. ^{young} the money arising from the
Sale of six horse beasts to be Equally Divided among
them the horses that I have made known to the

Executors Shall to take place as early as practicable after
my decease at the Discretion of the executors.

Fifthly I Give and bequeath my Daughter Sabra
Jenkins ninety ^{five} ~~two~~ acres of land during her
life and then to be sold on a credit of Twelve months
and the money to be Equally Divided ^{amongst the} ~~amongst the~~
heirs of her body it being the land and planter
where on David, Jickett now lives

Sixth I Give and bequeath unto my Daughter
Sabra Jenkins five Dollars

Seventh I Give and bequeath unto my son Tandy
R. Mitcher one bay mare Three years of ^{next spring} ~~next spring~~

Eighth I give and bequeath unto my grand son
Abelphous a young one last Springs Colt and twenty
four acres of land it being the track of land where on
he was ~~long~~ formerly lived on.

Ninth I Give and bequeath unto Sary Mitcher one
hundred and twenty ^{Include the plantation} ~~acres~~ acres of land where on he now lives
the lines to run ^{as shown and} ~~as shown and~~ my son Tandy R. Mitcher

Tenth I Give and bequeath unto my three sons and
seven Daughters (namely) Nancy young Mary Good
Tabitha young Tandy R. Mitcher Sary Mitcher
Abby B. young Brother Mitcher Sally Ramsay Elizabeth
Mansign and Susanna Wakefield ^{to have} ~~to have~~

10
of land the part whereon was in young and
Bowler Witch formerly lived on the track of
land where on spoke Witcher now lives all the tract of
land I purchased from Mm Jenkins six negroes
Together with their increase the house hold furniture
the farming utensils the stock of every
description that on the plantation which pro-
perty is to be sold at the death of my wife Susanna
or at the Expiration of her widowhood or a cre-
dit of two years to the highest bidder the land be-
cepted which is to be sold on a like credit as
soon as ^{as practicable} ~~practicable~~ after my Death as ~~practicable~~
the money when collected is to be Equally Divided
between my ten children last mentioned giving
of my son Saml Witcher two shares and the

other ^{nine} one share each it is also my Desire that
the Executors of this my last will and Testament
Should discover that any of the above mentioned
property left on the plantation be wasting or
about to be destroyed they the Executors Shall
make such arrangements to secure the property
as they shall think proper leaving as plen-
tiful supply for the widow so that all the
profits arising from the property last above
mentioned shall be disposed of in the manner
a fore mentioned and lastly I do hereby constitute
my two sons Saml Witcher and Lacy Witcher
Executors of this my last will and Testament.
her by ~~by~~ ^{by} ~~all other~~ ^{all other} ~~former~~ ^{former} ~~Testaments~~ ^{Testaments}

by me heretofore made by me in witness where
of I have hereunto set my hand and seal
this the 5th day of January 1815
Daniel Witcher

Signed sealed published & Declared
to be the last will & Testament of the
above named Daniel Witcher in
presence of us who at the request
and in his presence have here-
unto subscribed our names
as witnesses unto the same

Daniel Young

George Good

James Witcher

State of Tennessee } February Term 1815
Smith County }

Then the Witchers last will
and Testament of Daniel Witcher Decedent
was produced in open court and the Due Execu-
tion thereof proven by the oaths of Daniel
Young and James Witcher witnesses thereto
and on motion ordered to be recorded and
Lacy Witcher and Saml Witcher Executors
therein named appear and qualified and entered
into bond and security as the Law Directeth
Testamentary is therefor granted accordingly
a copy of
Robert A. Clark Clerk Smith
County

10
of land the part whereon was in young and
Bowler Witch formerly lived on the track of
land where on spoke Witcher now lives all the tract of
land I purchased from Mm Jenkins six negroes
Together with their increase the house hold furniture
the farming utensils the stock of every
description that on the plantation which pro-
perty is to be sold at the death of my wife Susanna
or at the Expiration of her widowhood or a cre-
dit of two years to the highest bidder the land be-
cepted which is to be sold on a like credit as
soon as ^{as practicable} ~~practicable~~ after my Death as ~~practicable~~
the money when collected is to be Equally Divided
between my ten children last mentioned giving
of my son Saml Witcher two shares and the

other ^{nine} one share each it is also my Desire that
the Executors of this my last will and Testament
Should discover that any of the above mentioned
property left on the plantation be wasting or
about to be destroyed they the Executors Shall
make such arrangements to secure the property
as they shall think proper leaving as plen-
tiful supply for the widow so that all the
profits arising from the property last above
mentioned shall be disposed of in the manner
a fore mentioned and lastly I do hereby constitute
my two sons Saml Witcher and Lacy Witcher
Executors of this my last will and Testament.
her by ~~by~~ ^{by} ~~all other~~ ^{all other} ~~former~~ ^{former} ~~Testaments~~ ^{Testaments}

by me heretofore made by me in witness where
of I have hereunto set my hand and seal
this the 5th day of January 1815
Daniel Witcher

Signed sealed published & Declared
to be the last will & Testament of the
above named Daniel Witcher in
presence of us who at the request
and in his presence have here-
unto subscribed our names
as witnesses unto the same

Daniel Young

George Good

James Witcher

State of Tennessee } February Term 1815
Smith County }

Then the Witchers last will
and Testament of Daniel Witcher Decedent
was produced in open court and the Due Execu-
tion thereof proven by the oaths of Daniel
Young and James Witcher witnesses thereto
and on motion ordered to be recorded and
Lacy Witcher and Saml Witcher Executors
therein named appear and qualified and entered
into bond and security as the Law Directeth
Testamentary is therefor granted accordingly
a copy of
Robert A. Clerk Smith
County

In the name of god a man I George Bradley Senr
 of the County of Smith and State of Tennessee
 being weak and low in body; but in soundness of
 mind and memory; Do make constitute and ordain
 this my last will and Testament ^{disannulling} and
 revoking all other will or wills by me heretofore
 made First I recommend my ^{body} to the earth to
 be decently buried at the Discretion of my
 Executors to be hereafter named; and as to my
 words by god it hath pleased god to endow
 me with I dispose of them in the following
 manner after all my just Debts are paid
 I Give to my beloved wife Elizabeth During
 her Natural life the use and benefit of ^{the tract of} ~~land~~
 land where on I now live and plantations and
 houses; I also lend to her during her natural
 life the following negroes (viz) Ben Elbek Han-
 nah Heziah Joe Isbell and Bryant and
 all my Stock of horses cattle Hogg and sheep
 and all my house hold and Kitchen
 furniture and working Tools of every Descrip-
 tion for her to raise and Educate my children
 on and after her Death the same house hold
 and Kitchen furniture and Stock of every
 Description and working Tools that may
 remain at that time to be Equally Divided

among all my surviving Children or heirs
 I 2nd Give and bequeath unto my Daughter
 Judith ^{my} negro girl huld, ^{to receive her when} ~~have~~
 she may come of Lawful age or marry
 to her and her heirs for ever
 I 3rd Give and bequeath unto my son Richard
 my negro boy Nathan to ^{receive him} ~~have him~~ when
 he may come of lawful age or marry to him and his
 heirs for ever
 I 4th Give and bequeath to my Daughter Elizabeth
 my negro girl Celah to receive her when she may come
 of lawful age or marry to her and heirs forever
 I 5th My will and desire is that if any of my Children
 marry or settle themselves that my wife Elizabeth
 let them have any property of any Deception that she
 may find her self enabled and willing to spare, at the
 value and the Child or children so receiving ^{to account} ~~to account~~
 for the said property at its value when received
 when ever a final Division may take place after
 my said wife's Death
 My will and desire is that all the negroes and then
 negroes that I have owned my wife During her natural
 life after her Death may be Equally Divided between
 my surviving Children or their heirs except those which
 other wills provided for by Judith's becard and

14
Elizabeth which is not to concern for ^{any} their part
of the said negroes untill all the rest of my sa-
viving children or their heirs have one for each
of them and if there be any Surplus left to
the said negroes and increase then the said three
children come ⁱⁿ for an Equal part of the said Sur-
plus; or if either of the said negroes dies that is
especially will to either of my said children
Elizabeth Richard or Judith before they Receive
there that they ~~may~~ have one in their room &
one place of the negro or negroes out of there bound

to my wife of Equal value and then the
Balance to be divided as here to fore ^{provided} mentioned

Item I My will and Desire is further that among three
sons (viz) Perry, Eliza and George has Received
of me one horse saddle and bridle worth 10 Dollars
each that either of them come in for any
part of stock until all the Balance of my
said Children Receive a horse or other stock
to the value of seventy Dollars and then if any
left to come in for an Equal share of this and
Balance. And Lastly I do hereby nominate appoint
and ordain my wife Elizabeth Bradly and my son
Perry Bradly my Executors to carry this my
last will and testament into effect in

15
The Testimony whereof I have set my hand
and Seal this the 15th Day of January AD 1816
Signed created and acknowledged George Bradly
in the presence of us
Wm. Jones
Geo. W. Allister (Jurat)
Dann H. Burford (Jurat)

State of Tennessee }
Swain County } July Term 1816
Then the last time

and Testimony of George Bradly Deceased
Was produced in open court and the due
Execution thereof proven by the oath of Miller
Jones & Gastard (Wm Allister witnesses there-
to) and on motion ^{or on the} recorded an. Say Bradly
one of the Executors that are named Entered
into bond and qualified as the said Directs
letters Testimony is therefore Granted
him according to a copy Test
Robert Allen Clerk

In the name of God amen. John Corder of the County
of Smith and State of Tennessee do hereby with some
of the uncertainties of human life and desirous while of sound mind
and memory to Dispose of my worldly property do hereby
and here-in make and constitute this my last will
and Testament in the manner following In the first
place my will is that all my just debts may be
paid. Second I Give and bequeath unto my
wife Mary Corder the following property To wit a
negro woman named a Saver; and an negro boy named
as Mager one bay mare one Cow and ~~one~~ feather bed
and furniture together with such a part of my
house hold furniture as she may think proper to take
to her use and benefit during her natural life
and at her Death my will is that the said negro
together with the other property remaining at
her Death to be sold and Equally Divided among
my children Except the heirs of Joel Corder ~~deceased~~ in
Elizabeth Cartright my daughter Third my will
is that my Land together with every other property
be sold in the most advantageous manner
and ~~the proceeds~~ Divided in Equal Shares among all
my children besides those above Excepted to the use
of my son Joel Corder Deceased I Give and
Bequeath unto them five shillings a piece also to
my Daughter Elizabeth Cartright I Give five

shillings if a live and if dead not alive I Give
five shillings a piece to each of her heirs fourth
by remember I also cut off Mr Parks with five
shillings that I have already given to my
son Lewis Corder sixty five dollars which is to
be considered so much in his legacy also to my son
Balar Corder I shall have given one hundred and
five Dollars which is to be considered that much
paid in his legacy. Fifth and lastly I constitute
and appoint Lewis Corder and Janet Lewis Execu-
tors of this my last will and testament the witness
of all and singular to the preceding premises
I have here unto set my hand and seal this
the 28th day of September in the year our Lord
one thousand Eight hundred and fourteen
sealed and published } John Corder Esq
as and for his last will and
testament by the said
John Corder in the presence
of us his witnesses
Martin Cooper
Benjamin Ellis
John Wiseman Executor
State of Tennessee February Term 1814
Smith County } Then the within last
will and testament of John Corder Deceased
was produced in open court and the due Execu-
tion thereof proven by the oaths of Martin
Cooper & Benjamin Ellis Witnesses Thereof and
in motion ordered to be Recorded & John Wiseman
Executor therein named appeared & qualified and
in and security as the law Directs & the
testamentary is therefore granted him accordingly

A copy Test Robert Allen Clerk

An Inventory of the property of Hannus Robett
Deceased is as follows. One mare and colts and
Two years old colts and nine head of cattle and Eight
head of hogs the household furniture containing
two beds and furniture one pot and Skillet and
four chairs and one cotton wheel four spails and
churn two puter plates two tin pans and one puter
Basin and one crock the ^{one family} farming tools contains
one small Shear plough four hoes two clevises one
Sawing tree one pair of hams one Shear and
one saw.

State of Tennessee } February Term 1815
Smith County } Then the Within Out
Was Exhibited in open court and ordered

to be recorded Test Robert Allen Clerk

An Inventory of Thomas Graham's property Deceased
1 Bed & furniture \$10
1 Cow and calf 10
6 boxes household furniture 6
1 Bar hive 2
To the balance of his pay and
bounty as a regular soldier in
the United States Service - 20
Test Robert Allen Clerk

John Davis Dec'd
State of Tennessee } In obedience to an order of
Smith County } the county court of Smith
County dated Nov^r Term 1815 with the
undersigned commissioners have proceeded
to settle with William Moore adm^r of the
Estate of John Davis Dec'd and find as follows
W^m. The amount of the Estate as per inventory
\$54.56¹/₂
Sup. Cr

By my services as per Acct N^o 1 - \$ 6
By cash paid Benj^r Davis as per N^o 2 5
By B retained as balance ~~Execution~~ - - 26 72
By Dr as per note No 4 - 5 91
By B paid John Barry as per note 11.93¹/₂

The above examined and duly coin^d \$ 54 56¹/₂
passed Given under our hands this 14th of Feb^r
1815

W^m Moores }
Little B Hughes } State of Tennessee } Feb^r Term 1815
W^m Smith } Smith County } Then the Within

Settlement was Exhibited in open court and
our motion ordered to be recorded

A Copy Test
Robert Allen Clerk
Smith County

Inventory of goods and chattels of John Key Do?

	8	cents		8	cents
one matron	1	56 1/2	pitch fork		66 1/2
1 pair of stretchers	3	00	cutting bonand knife	4	1
1 Brass Candle stick	11	18 1/2	bell	2	
1 Winding hoe	1	45	1 Check Bal	1	35
2 Do	0	29	1 Phorm	2	
1 Do	1	50	1 Cotton Wheel	133	
1 pick ax	2	51 1/2	1 Washing Tub	37	
1 Screw auger five ft	1		1 bucket	66 1/2	
1 Do	97		1 Can	56	
1 Shell awgers quartern	13 1/2		2 fat tubs		
1 pair of can & smuffin	37 1/2		1 Pickling labors piggin	56	
1 black plain	90		1 Half bushel and food	1	
1 fire plain	114		1 Rug	6	4 1/2
1 large Gumblet	75		1 Curv comb and		
1 Drawing knife	87 1/2		1 Grass mat	43	
2 Chivels	1	25	1 minn saddle	112	
2 Branding Irons	31		1 Stracher	141	
1 Set of warping spools	54		1 Hook chain	5	12 1/2
1 Spit hook	13		1 broad ax	4	
1 hand Saw	4	25	1 plough and clevis	3	12 1/2
1 large kettle hooks	2	64	1 large plough	4	
1 Wagon Box es	0	76	1 Chivce and pin	54	
1 belt an collar	30		1 brass tea kettle	0	39
1 large belt and collar	3	50	1 puter dish and	3	15
1 Bung mall			two plates		
1 pair of iron bits	75		3 puter pails		
2 chisel			and 1 Dish	2	

1 puter Dish

1 Puter basen

1 Puter Basen

6 Others Plait

1 Puter Tea pt

1 Gallon measure

1 Stone Cure

1 Stone Mug

1 Potiron

1 Tea canister

1 Coffee mill

1 knife Box

1 Dutch oven lid and hooks

2 Glass Tumblers and one

nutmeg grutter

3 Glass tumblers

6 Phials

1 Saw set and coal chisel

1 Shovel and tongs

1 Pot Rack

Pair of Still gator

Cooking Glass

Chear

Bowls

Set of cups and saucers

Sugar Dish

1 Dish cup

8	cents		8	cents
4	12 1/2	2 Cups and saucers	8	32
2	12 1/2	1 Smif. Bottle	1	16
1	90	2 Earthen plates	1	37
2	50	13 lb of powder	5	15
1	1	1 Chear	0	40
1	66	1 Reaping hook	0	16
1	10	1 Chear	0	53
0	27	1 Shaving Glass	0	25
4	50	1 Small vice	0	52
0	50	1 Sugar box	0	66 1/2
4	50	1 Pair of coen paper	0	50
0	75	3 Gumblets	0	88
3	00	1 Puter Basen and contents	0	50
1	5	1 Salve Cup	0	1
5	80	1 Brass Cock	0	93 1/2
0	3 1/2	1 Ash Drossive and two brushes	0	14
0	28	1 Tom ax	0	60
2	25	1 Bilt	7	37 1/2
1	80	1 Bin	0	124
5	00	3 Book	1	20
2	2	1 Raser bonand soap	0	38
0	50	1 Bonand Iron heater	0	16
0	75	1 Puter quart pot	47	
1	00			
0	10 1/2			
0	17			

1 Chair Hammer	8	22	1 Case bottle	67
1 Small Trunk	64		1 Sundial	15
1 Large Do	60		1 Lamp	26
1 Larger Do	1 18		1 Hour	76
1 Bag of curtain Ring	12		1 Tare key	76
1 Hammer chain	26		1 Bucket	8 1/2
1 Chain	50		1 arshle	4
1 Leather collar	25		Gun wipers	7 1/2
1 Pair of harness and			2 phials	28
the Back bands	1 5		1 Stock backbl	2 1/2
1 Pair of harness traces			1 Ladle	12 1/2
and Collar	4 50		1 Tump of back and box	26
2 Pair of hipstrops			1 Pad lock	3
Blind bridle	63		1 hand saw file	6 1/4
1 Bell collar	20		1 Shovel	10
1 Raw cow hide	2 6		1 Bdl	25
1 Blind Bridle	50		Some loggins etc	53
1 Grindstone	1 34		1 Promveg	28
1 Bar	26		1 Small bell	25
1 Bed side and cord	1 76		1 Undering buckel	25
1 Road and harness	1 20		1 Barrow bag	2 00
2 first choise of Sheep	5 1			
2 Second choise of Sheep	4 32			
5 Knives & Forks	2 30			
1 Bay mare	88	John Horn		
1 Bay Horse	99	Executor		
1 Negro girl and child	39			
1 Mar of hot hocks	13			

23
 State of Tennessee } February any Term 1818
 Smith County } Then the Within account
 of states was Exhibited in open court and
 ordered to be recorded.
 Test Robert Allen Clerk
 Smith County

Account of sale of Lewis Pipkin's property Decr 25	Articles	Sold Decr 25 1814	D	C
James				
Clemency Pipkin	1 waggon & gear		11	00
Clemency Pipkin	6 head Sheep		4	50
Clemency Pipkin	4 head Sheep		9	00
John Pipkin	6 Spoons			0 65
Wm Robinson	6 Spoons			0 65
Wm Robinson	6 Spoons			0 68
Wm Robinson	6 Spoons			1 56
Wm Robinson	6 Spoons			0 50
Charles Pipkin	6 Spoons			52
Eli Spurlin	6 Spoons			58
Wm Robinson	do do			50
Clemency Pipkin	do do			58
Wm Justice	do do			
Clemency Pipkin	do do			11
Jeremiah Taylor	do do			62
Joseph Marsh	one pair of Still yards			4
E. Spurlin	1 Spone			18

Amos Justice	1 Bull	4 40
Henry Merony	1 Steer	11 50
Henry Merony	1 Steer	10 12½
Henry Merony	one Steer	10 60
Eli Spurlin	one Steer	14
Clemency Pipkin	one Steer	4 63½
Andrew G Ford	one Cow	13
William Carley	one Carlin	2
Amos Justice	one Steer	12 50
Amos Justice	one Bull	10
Clemency Pipkin	one Heifer	3 76
Clemency Pipkin	one Cow	14
Amos Justice	one Cow	10
Amos Justice	one Steer	3 12½
Clemency Pipkin	one Heifer	2 63
Andrew G Ford	Six Spoons	41
Jacob Ellis	one Crescent saw	10
Jose Pipkin	one mans Saddle	11 56½
Jerse Pipkin	two Sows & pigs	12 90
William Robinson	one lot and hogs	12 25
Wm Robinson	one lot hogs	13
Joseph Marsh	one lot hogs	10
Amos Justice	one Still	46
Jose Pipkin	the Shoats	3 76
James Thornton	one Small Steer trap	2
Handy Mcher	one large Steer trap	3 2

Eli Spurlin	25	1 feather bed & furniture	29	00
David Tinters		Bedstead	2	
Clemency Pipkin		one Steer	3	12½

Articles not sold by will

Clemency Pipkin 1 feather bed & furniture 1 negro girl for the use of family 5 cows & calves 40 head hogs 5 head of horse beasts

Sally Taylor 1 ps land during live or widowhood 166½ acres

Jose Pipkin 100 acres land

Charley Pipkin 1 mare saddle & bridle 1 feather bed & furniture 2 cows & calves & heifer 2 ewes

All lands &c not left by will to be exposed to public sale when the youngest legatee arrives to age

Stat of Tennessee July Term 1815
Smith County Then the within

was exhibited in open court and ordered to be recorded

Test Robert Allen Clerk

Tennessee Smith County July 11th 1815 The
of Sale of Wm^m D^r of third of S^r L^r (W^r) one
to negro man for six Dollars \$6
David Hodges { Smith County } July Term 1815
W^m Lane
was exhibited in open court Then the within
and ordered to be recorded
Test Robert Allen Clerk

Agreeably to an order to us directed from the washiffur
Court of Smith County Nov Term 1815 Settled
with Leonard Ballou one of the administrators of
the Estate of Benjamin Barton Deceased, we have
proceeded as follows

Balance due from Admin, or Settlement } \$385, 36

6th August 1815 -

To do Book apt - - - - - \$455 45¹/₂

Credit By cash paid Miller & Davis
commission in Survis - - - - - \$13

By various gts in the said acc
Bath or persons not known
or funds, ^{data for} satisfactorily appear - - - - - 182 53

By note paid Matthew Calcutt
in voucher No 27th - - - - - 806 2¹/₂

By Cash paid as Clerks fee - - - - - 304¹/₂

By Commission on 1860 19 } 39

at 5 per cent - - - - - 30

By 15 Days Service at 28 p^{er} m^o } 112 62¹/₂

On Settlement with Leonard Ballou
of the Estate of Benjamin Barton Deceased it appears
that the Disbursing \$385, 36 that there remains a
balance of \$362 83 in the hands of the administrators
which is now ready for the benefit of the Estate
Wm Martine

State of Tennessee } February Term 1815
Smith County } Then the Within Settlement
Was Exhibited in open court and ordered
to Be recorded a copy Test Robert Allen
Clerk S. C.

Benjamin Barton
Dec^d Settlement

State of Tennessee }
Smith County } A Bill of articles of the
Estate of Olive Randolph Deceased
(Viz) One negro woman
One Bed and furniture
One cow and calf
Given under my hand this the 8th
February 1815 Joel Randolph Executor

State of Tennessee } Feb^r Term 1816
Smith County } Then the Within out
Was Exhibited in open court and ordered
To be recorded a copy Test
Robert Allen Clerk
Smith County

February the 11th 1816

An Inventory of the property of John Cooper
Deceased (73) Sixty Eight Acres of land lying on the
east fork of Goose creek -

One Negro woman Named Nancy Two negro
boys named Nat and Muger The father beds and
furniture Two horse beasts Eleven head of cattle
Fifteen years old. Hogs two spard sows two sows
and pigs the most of Between four and five hogs
About fifteen Bushels of wheat About twenty five
Barrels of corn two fowls two wedding kais four
clerises three augers one hand saw and one hawel
one drawing knife one bond of sixty Eight Dollars
on one Mr. Telford Hurt in Nashville one account
on one Oliver Zigrant of 20 Dollars one account
on Mr. Shadrick Corcor of forty three Dollars one
account on Martin Cooper four Dollars The
Suther land one bent Dollar three basons one
half Dozen of knives and forks three Dishes
Eight Earthen plates one Dish A half a Dozen
of tea cups and saucers one chime pitcher one
the pitcher two jugs two Bottles four vials one
Sugar Dish one butter Boat one large bowl two
mugs one Coffy Pot two saucers half of a Dozen
pewter plates two Coolers one salt seller one paper
Box one Looking Glass two Iron wedges one Shovel

and pack one runt two little barrels two trunks
Some single bars and Nails Some gar one pot
one oven and Skillet one pothanger one cotton wheel
the pair of cotton cards one pair of wool cards one
clock reel one hair of sister about twenty yards of spun
thread four pounds of spun wool some Nails and hump
one tub half bushel and two piggins six raw
hides one bone razor and shep one pound and
half of lead one cork screw one foot one rifle
Gun and notes one bag out five chairs one candle
stick two saddles two flat irons one hooked two hair
of hot hocks and a little cotton one bar two bird
ing irons and stick one sister two sheep some but
and chickings one chicken and two ees three
gords of hog land one sirsing Blue kels and
three awls

State of Tennessee } February Term 1815
Smith County } Then the Within shew
Jury was produced in open court and
ordered to be recorded. A Copy Test
Robert Allen clerk

An Inventory of the property belonging to
the Estate of David Lawrence Deceased the
3^d Day of February 1815 Taken by
W^m Lawrence

Four head of horses	One Pitcher
Six head of Cattle	Two crocks
Nine head of Sheep	One Basin
Twenty two head of hogs	Ten Spoons
Two Plows	Eighteen plates
One hoe	Ten cups and Saucers
One axe	Six teaspoons
One pair of Gears	One cream pot
Three beds and furniture	One Sugar Dish
One stand of curtains	One pepper Box
Two Bedsteads	One salt Seller
Six chairs	One bottle
One Table	One Jug
One Wheel	One Coffee pot
Two pair of cards	Six knives and forks
One Chest	forty yards of Shew Cotton
One Looking Glass	Ten yards of Shew wood
One candle stand	Fifty pounds of seed cotton
Two pails	A quantity of saler in stone
One Kettle	one woman's Saddle
One Pot	one woman's Saddle
One Oven	One loom
Two Shells	one and one half barrel

100 feet of plank
600 wt weight of iron
20 Barrels of corn
15 Barrels of wheat

Notes to the amount of One
Dollars to account open
\$21.50
3 Bushels of Salt 1 pocket
Book

State of Tennessee } February Term 1815
Smith County } Then the Withinout was
Exhibited in open court and ordered to be
Recorded Test Robert Allen Clerk

Pursuant to a commission from the worshipful
court of Smith County November Term 1815
We met at the house of William Lancaster to
Settle with Robert Lancaster administrator
of John Lancaster Deceased Executor of the
Estate Deceased we find A Grantee to the
Inventory of the Estate of the said Erwin
by John Lancaster papers, ^{that the} property sold
amounted to four hundred and Sixty Eight
Dollars twenty nine cents We also find that
there is Vouchers and notes in his books as
follows (20)

To Will 1 proven out by Simon Hughes two months hire of a negro man and did for \$4	\$10 00
April 3 Receipt for paying Eddy Erwin legation	10
By Proven out to John Erwin	25 66 2/3
paid by John Lancaster for Tax for said Erwin Estate	3 50
from Secor proven out	9 37 1/2
paid Henry Summy by proven out	1 25
proven out by Henry Sellers for	4 50
paid by John Lancaster for 18 Bushels corn a 2/4	36 20 1/2

notes	
James E Seaton's note	\$82.97
James Evers note	82.86 3/4
Robert Anderson	7.25
Henry Sellers	8.00
Wm Seaton	18.88
John Evers	5.42 1/2
Wm Hambleton	3.62 1/2
	208.99 1/4 notes
	74.79 1/2 vouchers
	283.78 1/2 Total

Amount of sale \$468.29
 notes vouchers 283.78 1/2
 184.50 1/2

We find agreeable to the papers Delivered to us that Robert Lancaster administrator of John Lancaster Deceased is indebted to the estate of James Evers the one hundred eighty four dollars & fifty cents given under our hand this 28th day of January 1815

John Lubb
 Rich Bailey }
 Wm Lancaster }

State of Tennessee }
 Smith County } February Term 1815

Then the within Settlement was exhibited in open court and ordered to be recorded
 Test Robert Allen clk

Know all men by this presents that we Anathian Picket Robert Allen John Gordon & Edmund Crutcher all of Smith county State of Tennessee are held and firmly bound unto his Excellency Wm Blunt Governor this Successors in office in the final sum of five thousand dollars for which payment well and truly to be made and done we bind ourselves our heirs Exrs &c Jointly and severally firmly by these presents In Testimony whereof we have hereunto set our hands and Seals this 14th Day of July 1815

The condition of the above obligation is such that Whereas the above named Anathian Picket hath this Day been appointed Register of Smith County Now if the said Anathian Picket shall will and truly Execute and perform all the Duties appertaining to said office of Register which by law is required then this obligation to be void Else remain in full force and virtue

State of Tennessee }
 Smith County }

Anathian Picket
 Robert Allen
 John Gordon
 Edmund Crutcher

February Term 1815
 Then the within bond was acknowledged by the parties in open court and ordered to be recorded
 Test Robert Allen clk
 Smith County

John Bravard Trustee
To Smith County, D

To Ballance former Settlement \$1608. 63 3/4
To amount county Sheriffs fees
for year 1814 627 59 1/2
Fines & forfeitures 19 25
Sundry strays 429
Sundry fines for breach of peace
and Disorderly 8 21
\$2772. 69 3/4

Contra Dr

By Sundry Vouchers Exhibited \$2194. 75 3/4
Sheriffs commissions for
collecting county fees 627. 59 1/2 a/b 37. 65 1/2
County commissions on 2194. 75 3/4 a/b 109. 75 3/4
2342. 18

Balance due county \$1130. 51 1/4

Lachary Ford
Thos Smith } Comm
Wilson } Comm

State of Tennessee
Smith County } Feb Term 1815

Then the within Settlement
was Exhibited in open Court and ordered
to be recorded

Jes
Robert Allen

Smith County, I agreeable to an order from Court
per Term 1814 ordering us the subscribers to divide
and set apart the Estate of Saml Caruthers 1918
amongst the heirs and ~~legates~~ make report
thereof to next court we have valued and set
apart the negroes all that came before us in the
following manner

negroes names Andy at \$500 Drawn by Abram Smith

Phil	"	Phile	"	500	12 1/2	Stacey
Phiba	"	400	"	Robert		
Bytha	"	400	"	William		
Marlin	"	400	"	Sally		
Mitchel	"	375	"	Elizabeth		
George	"	300	"	Isaac		
Arion	"	250	"	D Loomy		

Cent 312.5 the ninth part drawn
by Polly

amount \$347.22

by this 28th day of December 1814

J. Bravard
J. Hebbitts } Comm
Saml Smith } Comm

State of Tennessee
Smith County } Feb Term 1815

Then the within was Exhibited
in open Court and ordered to be recorded
a Copy Teste

Robert Allen

In obedience to the within order we have set apart
as much of the Estate of James Bradford Deceased con-
sisting of the crop & provisions on hand as will be
sufficient for the support & maintenance of the Widow
& family for one year from the time of the deceased
death Given under our hands this 1 day Feb^y 1814

Wm Moores
Moses Duke
Wm Brownsdale

South County 3 Feb^y Term 1815

Then the above report was Exhibited
in open Court and ordered to be recorded

Test
Robert Allen clerk

I Do hereby certify that Philip shall have all the
Benefit of an Entry of Land of thirty acres that
I made in May last beginning twenty or thirty
poles eastward from Col. Murrins at its corner
running north forty poles running west & south
for complement said Fox is to be at all
the Expenses of surveying & taking out the Grant
and if the Land should be lost then the said
Fox is to have the warrant for the true of
which I bind myself in the penal Sum
of thirty dollars to keep my hand & seal 7th day
1811

William Moore

Henry Moores

State of Tennessee
South County 3 May Term 1815

Then William Moore John Baker
and John Gordon made oath that the were well

acquainted with the Land Meeting of Henry Moores
and that the before the signature of the said Henry
Moores to the Within Obligation is the proper hand
Writing of him the said Henry Moores who
is since dead on motion ordered to be recorded

Test

Robert Allen clerk
South County

This will be left in a trunk with my
books blocks &c & contains a statement of
the debts I am owing, & those that are due
me - Due me

(in a pocket book in the trunk)
Note on Joseph Martin for \$10.00 some 65
Lent L. C. Martin 20.00
Wm Haneys Note for 10.00
Lent W. H. Hefp 10.00
\$40.00 some 65

Due from me to

P. J. Swann \$17.12 1/2
D. C. Dixon 70.00
Doctor W. Randall 20.00
W. J. Dickel (Carthage) 30.00
P. Allen & Co 20.00
J. H. Childers (Nashville) 22.50
A. Hynes & Co 77.00
H. Brillion 65.00
D. Hickman 10.00
John Ragland 24.50
George White (Jackson County) 4.00
Oliver Roberts 100.00
\$530.12 1/2

It is my will and desire should not re-
-turn that what little I possess may be sold
and applied to the payment of the above named
Debts - If there be a balance, my brother
William to have the benefit of it - and
it is my wish that he would take the trou-
-ble of the execution of this.

Pat. H. Martin

My books I wish disposed of in the following
manner (So will)

Samuel Law Dictionary 6 Vols. to my brother
William Martin.

"The Court of Berlin" 2 Vols. to my invaluable
friend John P. Brown, as a testimony after my
death of the high estimation in which I held
him while living.

"Blackstones Commentaries" 11 Vols. to my other
friend (Mr. Alexander, also at Law) as a trea-
-surable memento.

My other books to my brother William
Martin to dispose of as he may think proper
or to retain them himself.

My ~~other~~ ^{miscellaneous} papers to my good friend John
Brown - He him also the Letter of a correspon-
-dence which has passed between us.

Pat. H. Martin
Sept. 21st 1811

State of New York
Smiths County May Term 1812

Then the within laste
and Testament of Patrick H. Martin
was produced in open Court and the due execution
thereof proven to be in the hand writing of the

Deced. by Mr. Martin and Mr. Alexander
who made oath they were well acquainted with
the hand writing of the said Deced. and on
motion ordered to be received - and William Mar-
-tin Esq. there on named come into Court
and qualified and entered into bond as the law
directs with John Marshall and Price Mar-
-tin his Security Vellers Testimony is there-
fore granted him accordingly.

First
Witness Allen clerk

In the name of God Amen.
The 28th day of September in the year of
our Lord Christ one thousand Eighteen hun-
-dred and fourteen.

I Saml. Dischall of Smiths County and State
of New York being in perfect ~~health~~ ^{sound} mind
and memory do make and ordain this my last
will and Testament in manner and form fol-
-lowing;

First. I will that all my just and lawfull
Debts be paid as soon as I can.
Then. I give devise and bequeath to Saml.
Dischall a son of Elias Dischall are hum-
-ble Acres land and plantation where on
Willie Whately now lives lying on Bluff Creek
with all the rest until he come of age -
Then. These plantations where on I now live
give and bequeath to Elias Dischall and Wm.

⁽⁴⁴⁾
Maschal his wife their lifetime and then
to be sold and divided between Anderson
Maschal and the Maschal his two Sons—
Homer. The residue and remainder of my Es-
tate of every kind money and money worth
my last debts Satisfied out of the same I
divide equally between Vasey Maschal and
Henry Maschal and Vasey Maschal to the
and their heirs for ever and of this my last
will and Testament— I do make and give Con-
stitute and appoint James Wurchett Junr
and Vasey Maschal Executors Revoking and
Disannulling all former wills by me here-
fore made Ratifying and Confirming this
and no other to be my last will and
Testament in witness hereof I have here-
unto set my hand and Seal

Signed sealed and acknowledged by the said
Testator
in presence of us
Wiley Whitley Junr
William Barnett Jurat

State of Tennessee
Smith County } May Term 1810

Then the within
Will and Testament of Saml Maschal was
Exhibited in open Court and the due execution
thereof proven by the oaths of Wiley Whitley

⁽⁴⁵⁾
and Wm Barnett witnesses thereto and ordered
to be recorded
James Wurchett
Vasey Maschal Executors therein named came
into Court and qualified and entered into
Bond and Security as the law directs
Test
Robt Allen clerk

On the name of God Amen
I Jesse Sampson of the State of Tennessee
being in tolerable health and of sound mind
and memory thanks be to god. — Cawling
to mind the mortality of the body knowing
that it is appointed for all men once to die
do make this my last will and Testament
that is to say principally and of all I
give and recommend my Soul into the hands
of the Almighty God that gave it, and my
Body I recommend to the Earth to be buried
in decent Christian Order at the discretion of
my Friends not doubting but at the General
resurrection I shall receive what ever the
Lord shall appoint for me to receive, and
I bequeath such worldly estate as it pleases
God to bless me with in this life after all
my just debts and funeral expenses ^{being} paid
to give dismiss and dispose of the same in the
following manner, and form: First I give
my beloved wife Vasey Sampson the Tract

(46)
of Land that I now possess with the
the plantation tools household furniture
all the ^{of every kind} stock, that I now possess for the
purpose of her support and the support
of my loving children, during her life or
widowhood, and after her death to mar-
riage to be equally divided ~~among~~ all my
loving children, this the 8th day of Nov
One thousand eight hundred fourteen

Test
Thos. Snoddy
John Lawson Jurat
John ^{his} Crews Jurat
mark

State of Tennessee
Smith County 2 May Term 1819

Then the within Last
and Testament of Eliza Sampson was produced
in open Court and the due Execution thereof
proven by the Oaths of John Lawson and
John Crews (Witness thereto) an motion was made
to be recorded and on motion John Crews was
appointed administrator agreeable to the Will
who qualified &c

Test
Thos. Allen

(47)
In the name of God Amen I Eliza
Barker being weak and low in health but of
sound mind and memory, and knowing that
it is appointed for all men once to die, do
make and ordain this my last will and Testa-
ment in manner and form as following.
I give the whole of my Estate both
Real and Personal to my beloved wife Char-
lotte during her natural life to support
and School the Children and at her death
to be equally divided amongst all my Chil-
dren. (Wit) It is my desire that my wife
Charlotte have the privilege of giving of her
property as may be spared as she sees cause
to the Children should they need it so as not
to exceed their equal part, I do hereby Con-
stitute and appoint my wife Charlotte sole Ex-
ecutrix of this my last Will and Testament
Witness my hand and Seal this Eighteenth day
of March in the year of our Lord One thou-
sand Eight hundred and fourteen

In the presence of us
Alex. G. Stinson
Jm. Robinson
Jm. V. Robinson
Jm. Barker Seal
mark

State of Tennessee
Smith County 2 May Term 1819
Then the within Last Will

and Testament of John Carter was produced in open Court and the due Executions thereof were in open Court, by the oath of Saml. Williams, one of the Jurors there to, and on motion ordered to be recorded and Charles Carlton Esquire therein named was qualified as

Test
Robt. Allen

In the name of God Amen.

Whereas I Williams Esq. of the County of Smith and State of Tennessee being in a low State of Health but of a Sound mind and memory believing in the mortality of the body and that it is appointed to men once to die, do make this my Last Will and Testament, and firstly I do recommend my Soul to God who gave it and my body to the earth from whence it came to be buried by my Executors in a decent manner believing at the resurrection that I shall by the power of God receive the same, when Soul and body shall reunite and receive according to the deed done in the body.

I do Give and bequeath to my beloved wife Elizabeth all my Buildings and Tenements with the profits arising there from for the use and benefit of her and my Children during her Widowhood and the rest of my Land to be kept out for the benefit of my wife but if any my children marry before all my Children come of age, then all my Lands to be sold and Equally divided among them all. Also one Bay Horse to my beloved wife - Also one Cow called Flower with a young calf. Also one Cow called Red head with a young calf. Also one Cow called Munch with a yearling calf. Also Give ewes and Lambs twelve head of them.

middle size and my household furniture to my wife for the use of the family.

I do Give and bequeath to my Son Brackett one Bay Cott. also one Bridle and Saddle. I do Give and bequeath unto my beloved wife a flock of geese.

And further all my perishable property to be sold and after all my just debts are paid then the balance to be equally divided among my wife and children.

I do appoint my brother Moses Estis my whole and sole Executor of this my Last Will and Testament, this 27th of March 1815.

Witness my hand and seal the day and date above written.

Moses Estis

State of Tennessee
Smith County 2 May Term 1815

Then the within Will was produced in open Court and the due Executions thereof were proven by the oath of Lewis Allen, one of the Jurors there to, and on motion ordered to be recorded and John Estis the Executor therein named came into Court and qualified and entered into bond and security as the law directs. Letter Testamentary is therefore granted him accordingly.

Test
Robt. Allen

Know all men by these presents that John Gordon and Robt. Allen all of Smith County and State of Tennessee are held and firmly bound unto Millie Valant Governor this Successors in Office in the Penal Sum of three Thousand dollars to which Payment well and truly to be made and done we bind our selves and each of our heirs Jointly and Severally firmly by these presents Sealed with our Seals and dated this 10th day of May 1815.

The Conditions of the above Oligation is such that whereas the above bound John Gordon hath this day been appointed Collector of the State and County Tax in the County of Smith for the year 1815. now if the John Gordon shall well and truly Collect & pay over to the State Treasurer and County Trustee the State and County Tax assest and to be collected in said County for said year within the time limited by Law and in all things relative to his duty as Collector above said shall comply with the requisites of Law then this obligation to be void Else to remain in full force and virtue

John Gordon
Robt. Allen

State of Tennessee
Smith County
May Term 1815
Then the within bond

of John Gordon Sheriff and Collector to the Government of the State of Tennessee was acknowledged in open Court by the parties thereto and on motion ordered to be recorded
Test
Robt. Allen Clerk

In addition to the accounts of Sale already returned by me as Administratrix of the Estate of James Bradford Deceased.

Oct: the 25th 1814. Collected of John Stutall.
Edmond James on Note. \$100.30
Matthew Duke on D^c 358.20
Collected on an account 37.75
Account John Farlow 1.75
Three small hogs not sold 2.50
Other small articles about the worth of each 1.50
Other disputed accounts not yet settled which I am not ready to return.

Elizabeth Bradford
Administratrix
State of Tennessee
Smith County
May Term 1815

Then the within Supplementary acct. of Sales was exhibited in open Court and ordered to be recorded - Test Robt. Allen